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Bef or e: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Case

Thi s proceedi ng concerns a discrimnation conplaint filed by
t he conpl ai nants agai nst the respondent pursuant to section
105(c) of the Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977. The
conpl ai nants contend that they were discharged fromtheir
enpl oynment with the respondent because of their purported refusa
to work under unsupported roof. The respondent maintains that the
conpl ai nants voluntarily quit their jobs and were not di scharged
for refusing to work under the all eged unsafe roof conditions. A
hearing was held in Abingdon, Virginia, and while MSHA filed a
post hearing brief, the respondent did not. | have considered
MSHA' s argunents, as well as the argunments nmade by the
respondent's counsel during the hearing.
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| ssues

The issue presented in this case is whether or not the
conpl ai nants were in fact discharged for refusing to work under
unsafe conditions. Assuming a finding of a violation of section
105(c) of the Act, an additional issue is the ampunt of the civil
penal ty which should be inposed on the respondent for the
viol ation.

Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provi sions

1. The Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C.
0301 et seq

2. Sections 105(c)(1), (2) and (3) and 110(a) and (d) of the
Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U S.C
815(c) (1), (2) and (3).

3. Commission Rules, 29 C.F.R [2700.1 et seq.
Sti pul ations

The parties stipulated to the foll ow ng:

1. The respondent was the owner and operator of the mne in
guesti on.

2. The respondent was a corporation under |laws of the State
of Virginia, and the mne was subject to the Act.

3. The conpl ainant Larry Collins was enpl oyed by the
respondent as a scoop operator from August 13 to August 23, 1984,
and was a "mner" as that termis used in the Act.

4. The conpl ai nant Earl Kennedy was enpl oyed by the
respondent as a scoop operator from August 14 to August 23, 1984,
and was a "mner" as that termis used in the Act.

5. As of August 23, 1984, the daily coal production at the
subj ect mne was 250 tons.

6. The mine is a non-union nne
Conpl ai nants' Testi nony and Evi dence

Roger Lee C evenger testified that he is enpl oyed by MSHA as
a mne inspector and roof control specialist working out of the

Gundy field office. He testified as to his background
experience, and duties and confirned that he has
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i nspected the mne. He identified the mine as a drift mne with
one working section, and stated that mning is done by the
continuous mner nethod (Tr. 8Al1l).

M. devenger identified exhibit CAl as the approved mne
roof -control plan and he confirnmed that he assisted the
respondent in the formulation of the plan. He confirned that an
initial plan providing for full roof bolting for a full pillar
recovery was first fornmulated for the mne in question in
approximately April, 1983, and at that tine the m ne was operated
by the VirginiaAwest Virginia M ning Conpany. The August, 1984,
plan is fully applicable to the present owner-respondent, and the
prior plan sinply reflected ownership by Virgini aAwest Virginia.
He confirmed that he updated the plan to reflect ownership by
Raven Red Ash Coal Corporation, and that he conducted a m ne
i nspection in connection with the plan on August 3, 1984, at
which tine the mne was operating with a continuous m ner engaged
inretreat mining (Tr. 11A14).

M. d evenger explained the procedures involved in retreat
pillar extraction, and he stated that once the nmine is advanced
on either 60 or 70 foot centers, the pillars are extracted on the
retreat cycle in an effort to renove all of the coal. He
identified exhibit CA2 as the applicable full pillar recovery
portion of the current plan (Tr. 16). He explained the mning
sequence required by the plan, and confirmed that Plan A, Nunber
1 is the applicable plan provision relevant to this case. He al so
confirmed that the different plan provisions which may be used
depend on the direction the operator determ nes to use when
approaching the pillars for renoval (Tr. 14A20).

M. d evenger explained the roof bolting procedures and
sequences while cutting the pillar blocks and splits, and he
confirned that for each 16 feet of coal which is renoved, at
| east 15 36Ai nch roof bolts on 4Afoot centers should be
installed, not exceeding 4 feet fromthe rib. The roof bolts are
required to be installed in the areas marked 1, 2, 3, and 4
pursuant to the roof bolting patterns shown on page 12 of the
plan and pillary recovery plan No. 3 (Tr. 20A23). He confirned
t hat roof support posts are not used because of the dinensions of
the m ning machine operating in the pillar splits (Tr. 23A23). He
stated that no mners are ever permtted to advance inby the | ast
per manent roof supports except to install tenporary support (Tr.
24). He also confirmed that at no tinme are scoop operators ever
permtted to work inby
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per manent roof support (Tr. 25). If they do, they would expose
t hensel ves to the dangers and hazards of a roof fall since they
woul d be under unsupported roof (Tr. 25).

M. Cdevenger stated that in the course of a regular mne
i nspection, an inspector will check to determ ne whether or not
roof bolts are installed in the pillar splits (Tr. 26). However,
if the entire row of pillars have been renoved, the top begins to
fall and an inspector would not venture beyond the pernmanent
supports to ascertain whether the bolts were installed. The roof
woul d fall to the breaker posts, and an inspector could not
readi |y observe froma safe di stance whether or not the pillars
had been bolted (Tr. 27).

On cross-exam nation, M. Cevenger testified that he | ast
visited the mne on August 13, 1984, when the roof plan was
changed from one m ne conpany to the present one, and that he
i ssued no citations. At the time of his prior visit in April,
1983, the mine was operated under the name of Virgini aAvest
Virginia Mning Conpany (Tr. 28).

M. Cdevenger stated that if pillar recovery work were
t aki ng pl ace on August 23, 1984, the roof would be subject to
fall at any tine, and its likely that it would fall at any tine,
i ncludi ng the next day. However, he had no know edge that the
roof fell between August 23 and 24, and he did not know whet her
or not MSHA Inspector Ron Matney found any roof violations if he
were at the mine on August 24 (Tr. 30A31).

M. C evenger stated that in the event coal is renoved from
a pillar split without the installation of tenporary roof
support, a violation would occur. Tenporary supports woul d
i nclude tinbers or jacks, and if the coal is renoved, either
tenmporary or permanent roof support should be installed. If the
coal which has been renoved is nore than 4 feet fromthe face
back to the pernmanent roof support, the support should be
installed to within 4 feet of the working face of the pillar
split. If the pillar split is mned all the way through, at |east
32 bolts should be installed in the pillar split to support the
two cuts of coal (Tr. 34).

M. Cdevenger stated that if additional cuts are to be taken
inawpillar split after the tenporary supports are installed,
per manent supports nust then be installed. If the cut is nore
than 5 feet inby the pernmanent support, it would be a violation
not to install additional permanent support (Tr. 35). M.
C evenger confirmed that in pillar recovery work, planned roof
falls are expected, and it is not unusual for a row of pillars to
be renoved one day, and for the roof
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to fall the next (Tr. 35). He also confirmed that under the plan
tenmporary roof support nust be installed within 5 mnutes after a
cut of coal has been renpved, and the tenporary support renains
in place until such tinme as the permanent support is installed.
In such a case, the only tinme anyone is permtted inby the
tenmporary support would be to install permanent support (Tr.
36A37). M. devenger confirmed that he has no personal know edge
of the facts surrounding the complaints filed in this case (Tr.
37).

Larry Collins testified that he has been a mner since 1979,
and that prior to August, 1984, he worked as a scoop operator at
the Jewel | Ri dge Coal Conpany, but was laid off in 1983. He was
hired by the respondent on August 14, 1984, and m ne
superintendent WIlliamBrewster hired him He initially worked on
the first shift, but then worked the second shift from2:30 p.m
to 11:00 p.m He was paid $70 a day, and his supervisor was
section foreman Hubert Sweeney.

M. Collins stated that he received no training regardi ng
roof control plans. He confirmed that he was enpl oyed by the
respondent as a scoop operator and that the m ne was engaged in
pillar recovery when he was enployed there. Referring to exhibit
CA2, a part of the roof-control plan, he explained that "Plan A"
was being followed and that the pillar split shown as 1, 3, 5 was
m ned all the way through w thout any roof bolting taking place.
The m ner would then mine all of the nunbered wing cuts as shown
by numbers 6A13 without any roof bolting taking place.

M. Collins stated that during his 2 weeks of enpl oynent
with the respondent, or a total of 8 shifts, no roof bolts were
ever installed on the pillar split where he was working, and he
never observed the roof-bolting machine in operation. He
expl ai ned that the continuous-m ning machi ne was renotely
controll ed, and that as the scoop operator it was his job to
follow the continuous mner in order to |oad out the coal and
take it to the belt for transportation out of the m ne. During
this process he was required to be under unsupported roof, and at
times he would be 12 to 8 feet inby and under unsupported roof,
and that this was true for the entire 2 weeks of his enpl oynent
wi th the respondent.

M. Collins stated that during his enploynent with the
respondent sone rocks fell on his scoop fromsone roof bolts and
that he received "a few scratches.” He reported this to M.
Sweeney and M. Sweeney stated that "it don't |ook that bad."



~531

M. Collins stated that on one occasion during his enpl oynent
with the respondent, the lights on his scoop went out. He
reported this to M. Sweeney and suggested to M. Sweeney that
the scoop be taken out of service and repaired. M. Sweeney
directed himto operate the scoop anyway, and that if he didn't,
he would fire him Although M. Collins' believed that operating
the scoop without lights posed a hazard to the m ners because he
woul d be unable to see them he followed M. Sweeney's order and
continued to operate the scoop w thout |ights.

M. Collins stated that on August 23, 1984, he and M. Earl
Kennedy were working under bad top and that they were required to
wor k beyond permanent supports where the roof had not been
bolted. The roof was cracking and popping, and he told M.
Kennedy that he was not going to take his scoop under the
unsupported roof. He and M. Kennedy then spoke to M. Sweeney
and inforned himthat they would no | onger work under unsupported
roof. M. Sweeney inforned themthat if they refused to continue
to work they were no | onger needed. At that point, M. Collins
and M. Kennedy left the m ne.

M. Collins stated that when he and M. Kennedy returned to
the m ne the next day to pick up their pay, an MSHA i nspector who
he did not know was at the mine office with m ne superintendent
WIlliamBrewster, and after discussing the matter with him he
and M. Kennedy decided to file a conplaint the next day.

M. Collins stated that after he and M. Kennedy left the
m ne on August 23, 1984, the m ne continued to operate until
April, 1985, when it was closed. M. Collins confirmed that after
he was fired by M. Sweeney, he attenpted to find other
enpl oynment, but could not find a job until April, 1985, when he
went to work with the Coon Branch Constructi on Conpany where he
i s now enpl oyed and earning $80 a shift (Tr. 38A60).

On cross-exam nation, M. Collins stated that he previously
worked at the mine in 1983 when it was operated by M. Dave
Jordan under the corporate name of Virgini aAWest Virginia Coal
Company. He was enployed for 3 or 4 weeks as a scoop operator but
voluntarily quit.

M. Collins confirmed that he never saw or read the
respondent's roof-control plan. He also confirmed that while
operating his scoop behind the continuous-m ni ng machi ne his
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scoop batteries would be under unsupported roof, and since he was
posi ti oned ahead of the batteries, he too would be under
unsupported roof.

M. Collins stated that he was not aware of any roof falls
in the mne on August 23 or August 24, 1984, and that the
i nci dent concerning the lack of lights on his scoop occurred on
the third day of his enploynent at the mne.

In response to further questions, M. Collins stated that
prior to his present enploynment with Coon Branch Construction, he
wor ked for 2 weeks with the Bartlett Tree Trimm ng Conpany earing
$4 an hour. He confirned that he received no state unenpl oyment
benefits because he had used up all of his eligibility prior to
his enpl oynent with the respondent.

M. Collins reiterated that during his enploynment with the
respondent the entire coal pillars would be mned w thout any
roof bolts being installed, and it was his view that this was a
common practice. He confirmed that he never filed any safety
conpl ai nts concerning this practice (Tr. 60A80).

Earl Kennedy testified that he was hired to work at the
respondent's nmne by M. WIliamBrewster, the nne
superintendent. He was hired on August 13, 1984, as a second
shift scoop operator, and was paid $70 a shift. H s supervisor
was foreman Hubert Sweeney, and his |ast day of enploynment was
August 23, 1984.

M. Kennedy stated that during his enploynent with the
respondent he was engaged in pillar retrieval work splitting
pillar blocks of |ow coal. He identified exhibit CA2 as the
applicable roof-control plan for pillar extraction, and he
confirmed that "Plan A" as shown on the plan was being foll owed.

M. Kennedy stated that during his work shifts at the m ne
he never observed any roof bolts installed while the pillar
splits were being mned. Al though a roof-bolting nmachine was in
the area, it was backed out of the way and he never saw it used
to bolt the roof.

M. Kennedy stated that he operated a scoop and was required
to follow the renotely controlled continuous m ner while the
pillar was being mned. He woul d naneuver the scoop under the
m ner boomin order to load out the coal to the tail piece. He
operated the scoop while Iying on his
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back, and there were occasi ons when he woul d nmake three or four
trips followi ng the m ner under unsupported roof.

M. Kennedy stated that during his work shift on August 23,
1984, he observed a roof bolt which had disl odged al ong the | ast
row of roof bolts and a | arge rock approximately 30 feet |ong had
slipped down with the bolt. He pointed out this condition to M.
Sweeney, and he "shinmed out the roof bolt" and instructed himto
continue working. M. Sweeney instructed himto take his scoop
and pull it in beyond the bolt and up to the mner, and when he
refused, M. Sweeney told him"to pick up ny bucket and go hone."
M. Kennedy and M. Collins then left the mne, but returned the
next day to pick up their pay.

M. Kennedy stated that when he and M. Collins returned to
the m ne on August 24, 1984, an MSHA inspector was at the office
speaking with mne superintendent Bill Brewster. M. Kennedy
advi sed the inspector that he and M. Collins had been fired the
previous day for refusing to work under unsupported roof. Wen
the i nspector asked M. Brewster about the matter, he told the
i nspector to speak with M. Sweeney about the matter. After the
i nspector left, M. Brewster told M. Kennedy that he and M.
Collins "had no leg to stand on because they had al ways wor ked
the mne that way." M. Kennedy returned to the mne a week
later, and he discussed the matter further with M. Brewster and
advised himthat he was afraid of the roof conditions. M.
Kennedy and M. Collins then filed their conplaints with NMSHA

M. Kennedy stated that after he was fired by the respondent
he was unenpl oyed for approximately a nmonth and a half, but then
found a job with the Cunberland Coal Conpany earning $80 per
shift. He worked for Cunberland for 5 weeks and then went to work
for the Tripple G Coal Conpany earning $70 to $110 per shift. He
was subsequently laid off and has been unenpl oyed since Septenber
1, 1985 (Tr. 81A94).

On cross-exam nation, M. Kennedy testified that while
operating his scoop behind the continuous-m ni ng machi ne he woul d
be positioned approximately 2 to 3 feet fromthe nachi ne di pper
and the pillar which was being split was approximtely 40 to 50
feet deep.

Wth regard to the rock which had broken | oose between two
roof bolts at the last row of roof bolts, M. Kennedy stated that
t he conti nuous-m ni ng machi ne ri pper head was causing the rock to
Vi brat e.
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M. Kennedy stated that as the scoop operator he was expected
to foll ow behind the continuous-m ning machi ne for a di stance of
some 12 feet in order to | oad out the coal being cut by the
m ner. The di pper of his scoop would be under the m ner boom He
confirmed that under the roof-control plan the continuous m ner
can only legally proceed for a distance of 20 feet under
unsupported roof (Tr. 95A108).

WIlliamBrewster testified that he was enpl oyed by the
respondent as the mne superintendent until the |ast week of
March, 1985, when the mine was "worked out" and cl osed. He
confirnmed that M. Dave Jordan was then the owner of the mne and
that he al so owned and operated several other m nes.

M. Brewster identified exhibit CA3 as a copy of a statenent
that he made to MSHA special investigator Dewey Rife during his
i nvestigation of the conplaints filed by M. Kennedy and M.
Collins. M. Brewster confirnmed that M. Sweeney told himthat he
fired M. Kennedy because "he did not want to pull coal" and that
M. Collins sinply quit.

M. Brewster stated that M. Sweeney denied that M. Kennedy
and M. Collins were ever required to work under unsupported
roof. M. Brewster stated further that he was in the mne daily
and that he never observed any pillars split when the roof in the
area had not been roof bolted (Tr. 109A112).

On cross-exam nation, M. Brewster testified that he has 23
years of underground m ning experience. He confirmed that M.
Kennedy and M. Collins returned to the mne the day after they
were fired and informed himthat M. Sweeney had fired them
because he wanted them"to run coal"” and they refused. M.
Brewster stated that he offered to rehire M. Kennedy and M.
Collins but they refused his offer and stated that "they woul d
find anot her excuse to fire them"

M. Brewster stated that on August 24, 1984, MSHA | nspector
Ronal d Matney was at the mine and had conducted an inspection
that day. M. Brewster stated that he could recall no roof
citations being issued that day by M. Matney, nor could he
recall any roof falls in the m ne.

M. Brewster stated that at all tinmes while he was
underground on the first shift the 40 foot long pillar splits
were always bolted and he has never instructed anyone to work
under unsupported roof. He also stated that during the period
August 14 through August 23, 1984, the roof bolter was being used
on the day first shift. He confirnmed that one of his
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sons worked during that shift as a scoop operator, and that
anot her son worked as a nmechanic's hel per. M. Brewster stated
that he would not jeopardize their safety, or any other niners
safety, by requiring themto work under unsupported roof.

M. Brewster stated that he subsequently offered M. Kennedy
his job back a second tinme but that he refused. He al so stated
that M. Kennedy asked himfor a lay-off slip so that he could
draw unenpl oynment, but he refused to give it to him

In response to further questions, M. Brewster identified
exhibits CA4 through CA8 as citations issued by Inspector Matney
on August 23, 24, and 29, 1984, and he confirmed that he was with
M. Matney during his inspections and that the citations were
served on him

M. Brewster stated that the continuous-m ning nmachine is 35
1/2 feet long, and the scoop is 25 feet long. Under the
ci rcunst ances, he did not believe that it was possible for the
scoop operator to be under unsupported roof since the pillar
splits were 40 feet long (Tr. 121A128).

In response to further questions, M. Brewster reviewed
copi es of several citations issued at the mne by |Inspector
Mat ney (exhibits CA4 through CA8) and he stated that he could not
remenber all of them However, he confirned that he knows
| nspect or Mat ney, has observed Federal m ne inspectors in the
m ne, has received citations fromthem and is famliar with the
citation forns (Tr. 138A139). He identified his name on the
citation forns, and he specifically recalled a citation i ssued on
August 24, 1985, and confirmed that he was present when it was
i ssued. The citation was issued because the wing that was left in
the pillar split was too narrow and extra support posts had to be
installed (Tr. 141). He al so conceded that he had persona
know edge of at |east some of the other citations issued by M.
Mat ney, including one which was issued for 15 di sl odged roof
bolts in a return hallway (Tr. 142). However, he expl ai ned t hat
it is not unusual for roof bolts to be dislodged in a hallway
because of the low coal, and that a hallway is not |ocated on an
active working pillar (Tr. 146).

In response to a question as to whether it was possible for
a scoop operator to be under unsupported roof, M. Brewster
responded as follows (Tr. 147A148):

JUDGE KOUTRAS: M. Brewster, |'ve just got a couple of
gquestions and then we'll let you go.
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In response to a question by M. Bieger, he asked you how

 ong the continuous-m ning machi ne was and you sai d approxi -
mately thirty two and a half feet and he asked you about the
scoop and you said twenty five feet. Then he said, well under

t hose circunstances then would it be possible for one to be
under unsupported roof for a distance of thirty five feet and
your answer was that's true. So | assune that--what about for a
di stance of sixty feet, or fifty feet? Let's assunme that under
your mning plan your mning cycle that they mned for a distance
of forty five, fifty, sixty feet w thout bolting, wthout roof
bolti ng. Okay.

A Alright.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: OF any kind. Is it possible that either
t he scoop operator or the continuous-m ning machi ne
operator woul d be under unsupported roof at any tine
when they go back in the mne?

A. Let's see. The m ner would have to go inby the--the
m ner woul d have to go inby back to the controls is
twenty foot where the deck is, okay. And fromthere on
back to the deck is about six nore foot, twenty six.
Ckay. And the scoop operator sits about, approximately
twel ve foot fromthe end of the scoop. So that gives
you twenty six, thirty six, he'd have to go thirty

ei ght foot before he would be inby the roof supports.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Ckay.

A. The miner would have to go at least thirty eight
f oot deep.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS. So if it mned a sixty foot distance
wi th absolutely no roof bolts, then he woul d be under
unsupported roof woul dn't he?

A. Right.

And at (Tr. 158):

BY MR Bl EGER
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Q The Judge asked you what if they were mining for sixty
feet woul d sonebody be under that many feet of unsupported
roof and you said well, yes, but how big were the--the bl ocks
were only forty to forty five feet, right?

A. Approximately, yeah

Q So when you're pulling pillars and the pillar is
forty to forty five feet, you don't have a situation
where they are mning sixty feet, is that right?

A. Right.

M. Brewster stated that normally the continuous m ner woul d
not go beyond the end of the pillar being extracted because the
roof could fall on the mner. He denied that he was under any
pressure to produce coal, and confirned that in pillar extraction
on his section the maxi numdi stance that is m ned would be 40
feet (Tr. 160).

M. Brewster confirmed that he worked the day shift and
woul d not be in the mne during the afternoon or night shift when
t he conpl ai nants were working. He stated that he would not be
underground with the conpl ai nants, and he woul d not be aware of
any instances where the pillars were not bolted. He confirned
that his testinony concerning the bolting of pillars would only
apply to his day shift, and that he had no know edge about the
ni ght shift. Wen asked whether it was possible that the night
shift was mining pillar splits w thout roof bolting, he replied
"It's possible" (Tr. 150).

M. Brewster stated that when the conplainants returned to
the mne the day after their term nation, he discussed the matter
with themand offered themtheir jobs back, and the inspector was
present when this occurred (Tr. 151). He specifically recalled
the conplainants telling him (Brewster) that M. Sweeney expected
or directed themto work under unsupported roof and when they
refused to do so he told themto "pick up their buckets and go on
down the road,” or words to that effect (Tr. 151). M. Brewster
stated that his reaction to these statenents by the conpl ai nants
was that M. Sweeney could not lay themoff for refusing to work
under unsupported roof (Tr. 152). M. Brewster stated further
that he discussed the matter with M. Sweeney, and his testinony
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regardi ng the discussions which took place is as follows (Tr.
152A154) :

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Did you discuss it with M. Sweeney?
A. Yes.
JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Well, what did he tell you about it?

A Well, he told nme that they was sitting down at the
mout h of the break tal king and the best | can renenber,
he told ne he hollered at themand I believe the
Kennedy boy conme on up there and he got on to him and
he told himif he wasn't going to pull coal to go on to
t he house. And they went on.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Vel |, what's that nean. | nean, there's
alot--1 don't understand why M. Sweeney woul d just
tell them-what were they doi ng? Goofing off or not
wor ki ng or what ?

A. That's the way | understood it, just a goofing off.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: And, M. Sweeney told themif they
weren't going to pull coal, just to go on hone and
you--why woul d you offer themtheir jobs back then?
After they told you their side of the story?

A Well, if Hubert wonged them | nean that's the
right thing to do

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Wi ch one--well, if M. Sweeney tells you
that he told themto go hone because they were goofing
off and didn't want to work, and the two nen told you
that that's not true, that M. Sweeney expected themto
wor k under unsupported roof, and that's why he told
themto go home, who would you tend to believe? O, how
woul d you resol ve that obvious conflict?

A. Rephrase that again.
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JUDGE KOUTRAS: Well, what I'msaying is M. Sweeney told you
one thing and the two nen told you sonething else, right?

A. Uh- hum

JUDGE KQUTRAS: So, without even talking to M. Sweeney,
you told the two men to cone back to work.

A | saidif that's the way it was, conme on back out to
wor k. When they cone to work, | would have had to have
talked it over with Hubert, you know.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: kay. And by that tinme you had tal ked it
over with M. Sweeney?

A. No. | didn't even know not hing about it until they
cone and told ne.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: After the two nen left, did you then
talk to M. Sweeney?

A. Right.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: And M. Sweeney told you that they just
didn't want to work or what?

A. That's what he told ne. He said they was down there
at the nouth of the breaker tal king and he hol |l ered at
t hem and one of them | believe Kennedy, come on up
there and he told himif they wasn't going to pull
coal, to go on to the house. Now, that's what he told
me happened.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: kay. Did you ask M. Sweeney about what
M. Kennedy and M. Collins had told you? That he
expected themto work under unsupported roof?

A. No, he didn't tell me anything |ike that.
JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Did you nention it. Did you ask M.

Sweeney whet her there was any truth in what these two
men told you?
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A. Yeah. | told himwhat they said and he said it wasn't true.

M. Brewster stated that neither the conplainants or their
crew ever conplained to himabout any |ack of roof bolting or
unsafe conditions, and he was not aware of any rock ever falling
on M. Collins' machine. He confirmed that M. Sweeney never
conpl ai ned about the conplainant's work, and that he (Brewster)
hired M. Kennedy because he had the reputation of being a good
scoop man (Tr. 156).

Hubert Sweeney, testified that he was enpl oyed by the
respondent as an underground section foreman on the second shift
and that he was laid off on March 15, 1985, when the m ne "worked
out" and was closed. Prior to this time he worked at the mine in
1982 when it was operated as the VirginiaAwest Virginia Coa
Mne, and it was owned by M. Dave Jordan, the respondent's
owner .

M. Sweeney confirned that M. Kennedy and M. Collins
wor ked for himas scoop operators on the second shift. He denied
that he directed themto work under unsupported roof or that he
fired themfor refusing to do so. He stated that during the shift
on August 23, 1984, he observed M. Kennedy and M. Collins
sitting in their equi pnment talking and he told themthat if they
did not want to "pull coal"” to go honme. He stated that he fired
them for "goofing off."

M. Sweeney confirnmed that he was interviewed by NMSHA
speci al investigator Dewey Rife on Septenber 20, 1984, during his
i nvestigation of the conplaints and he admtted telling M. Rife
that M. Collins and M. Kennedy quit their jobs and that he did
not know what happened to cause themto quit (Tr. 160A165).

M. Sweeney testified as follows with respect to the
ci rcunst ances under which the conplainants left their jobs (Tr.
166A170) :

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Wiy did these two men quit, M. Sweeney?

A Sir, | don't know why they quit. They were down at
the break a tal king. They didn't want to pull no coa
and | told themif they couldn't do no better than that
they mght as well go hone. One got to preaching that I
fired himand the other one, he didn't--I
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don't know why, he jut wal ked on out of the m nes.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Tell me about this. Wat were they
doi ng, tal king? What are you tal king about. Wre they
taking their break or what?

A. | couldn't hear them Yes, they was sitting on the
scoop. You have to crawl on your knees and hands and
hol |l ered down to where |I could hear them and they
was--seen thema sitting down there in the break a

t al ki ng.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Just chit-chatting?

A. Just chit-chatting, right.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: And you told them what now?

A If they couldn't do no better than that they m ght
as well get their buckets and go on hone.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: What did they tell you?

A. They didn't tell me nothing. They just got in the
scoop. | craw ed right back towards the face and

asked the ot her scoop nman where he was at and said why,
t hey' ve done gone home. And when | cone outside they
had done went home. O otherw se they was still outside
a waiting on a ride but they quit.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: That was the | ast you saw of then?

A. Yeah, that's the last | saw after they crawl ed on
t he outside

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Did you tell anybody that the two men
had quit?

A Sir?

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Did you tell anybody at the m ne that
these two nmen had quit?

A. Yes, | told the others.
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JUDGE KQUTRAS: Who did you tell?

A 1 don't--a fellar by the name of Bill Asbury. He's
not here, himand the mner operator.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Did you tell the m ne superintendent,
M. Brewster?

A. Yes, the next day.
JUDGE KOUTRAS: What did you tell himthe next day?

A 1 told himthey quit and | said | don't know why.
They was no reason, they gave nme no reason.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Did you tell M. Brewster you fired
t hen®?

A Yes, sir. | told himthat | told themif they
couldn't do no better than what they was doing, |aying
on the scoop, to get their bucket and go.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Well, did you fire themor did they
quit?

A Well, | guess you'd call it firing them They just
took off going on outside. |I guess you'd call it firing
t hem

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Have you ever had any mners in your
experience | eave a job under simlar circunstances?

A. No, sir, | haven't.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Isn't that a little unusual ?

A. Unl ess they'd be sick or sonething.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: | nean it's a little unusual for two nen

to just up and quit because the supervisor told themto
get on with working, to stop talking?
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A. Well, | guess they got the inpression that | fired them

* * * * * * * * * *

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Does it seem ki nd of unusual to you for
themto just get up and take off?

A It seemed to ne like they don't want to work. They
tried to get me to get thema cut-off slip the night
before that. | got the inpression they don't want to
wor K.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: What's a cut-off slip?

A. That's a slip where you could draw unenpl oynent .
JUDGE KQUTRAS: The ni ght before?

A. The night before, sir.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Well, tell me about that? How did they
expect you to give thema slip the night before?

A. They just wanted nme to lay them off.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Well, now if you laid themoff or fired
them were they eligible for unenpl oynent?

A. | don't know, sir.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: You nean the night before these two nen
conme up to you and asked you for an unenploynment slip?
They got tired of working and they wanted to draw
unenpl oynent ?

A. Yes, sir. They wanted to draw unenpl oynent. Didn't
want to work.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: The story |I'mhearing is these two nen
didn't want to work under unsupported roof and you kind
of suggested that if they didn't want to work under
unsupported roof pulling coal, they m ght as well go on
hone?
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A. 1've never sent nobody out, sir, out from under roof
supports.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Did you ever suggest or say anything to
themthat would |l ead themto believe that?

A. No, sir. Wiile you're in the mne, | ain't going to
put nobody's life in danger. 1've never had no problem
with nen all ny life except these two. | don't know
why. | treated themright. Didn't cuss them out or
not hi ng.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Had you known these two nen before they
cane to work?

A. No, sir. The first tine.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: And they had worked for you how | ong? A
coupl e of days or what?

A. Yeah, a couple of days, or maybe three.

M. Sweeney denied that roof bolting was never done on his
section, and he stated that he always foll owed the roof-control
pl an. He expl ained the bolting process and denied that his crew
ever cut all the way through a pillar or worked under unsupported
roof while cutting coal (Tr. 172). He conceded that he was not
al ways present while the continuous mner was operating, and that
when he was present he woul d al ways position hinself next to the
continuous mner (Tr. 174).

Terry Kennedy testified that he is Earl Kennedy's brother
and that he has been enployed with the Island Creek Coal Conpany
for 7 years. He stated that while he was laid off fromthat job
he worked for the respondent as a scoop operator and tinber man
on the second shift for 2 days on August 13 and 14, 1984, and
t hat Hubert Sweeney was the shift foreman

M. Kennedy stated that during the 2 days he worked on the
second shift the coal pillars were split down the m ddl e straight
t hrough and that the continuous mner would then pull out and
mne the right and left wings. During this time he never saw any
roof bolts installed on the mined pillar splits and the
roof -bol ti ng machi ne was never used. Although he was never
required to work under unsupported roof while pulling the pillars
he did so anyway in order "to keep his job." He stated that M.
Sweeney knew he was wor ki ng under unsupported roof.
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M. Kennedy stated that he di scussed the roof conditions with M.
Sweeney and inforned himthat he was jeopardizing the safety of
the m ners by not roof bolting the pillars. He stated that M.
Sweeney informed himthat since the mne was a "small truck m ne"
they could "get by with just about anything" (Tr. 174A182).

Jerry Kennedy testified that he is currently unenpl oyed and
has 11 years of mning experience. He stated that he is not
related to the conplainant and that he was enpl oyed by the
respondent from August 13, 1984 to August 23, 1984, as a second
shift scoop operator and tinber nan, and he confirned that shift
foreman Hubert Sweeney was hi s supervisor

M. Kennedy stated that during his enploynent with the
respondent he was engaged in pillar work and he indicated that
after the pillar was "tinbered up" the continuous-m ni ng machi ne
would go in and cut the pillar split until it was m ned through
to the end. As the tinber nman he would be in and out of the
pillar while it being mned and at no tine did he ever observe
roof bolts being installed in the pillar. Al though a roof bolter
was on the section, he never observed it being used to pin the
roof .

M. Kennedy stated that during his shift on August 23, 1984,
he overheard M. Sweeney tell M. Earl Kennedy that "if you can't
do that | don't need you after this shift." He heard M. Kennedy
reply "if you don't need ne than you don't need nme now. " M.
Kennedy stated that he had no idea what M. Sweeney and Earl
Kennedy were di scussing. He stated that he observed scoop
operat ors wor ki ng under unsupported roof and that this was a
common occurrence on the second shift during his enpl oynment at
the mine (Tr. 184A188).

On cross-exam nation, M. Kennedy stated that he first net
M. Earl Kennedy and M. Collins when he went to work for the
respondent. He confirmed that he quit his job on August 23, 1984,
because he didn't |ike the pay and the height of the coal. He
stated that he never conpl ai ned about the roof conditions or the
| ack of roof bolting. He also confirned that Hubert Sweeney was
married to his cousin (Tr. 188A198).

Bobby Miullins testified that he is enployed by the Rocki ngAR
Coal Conpany and that he has 12 years of underground m ni ng
experience. He confirmed that he was enpl oyed by the respondent
for 3 weeks during August, 1984. He worked on the first shift as
a mner and pinner helper. He stated that
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M. Brewster was the m ne superintendent and that he was
underground every day during the day shift.

M. Millins stated that he worked at the faces pulling
pillars, and that during his enploynment at the m ne he never saw
the roof bolter used to install roof bolts on the pillars (Tr.
199A202) .

On cross-exam nation, M. Millins confirmed that he grew up
with Earl Kennedy. He stated that he quit his job with the
respondent after M. Brewster threatened to fire him He
expl ai ned that he and several other mners were pulling a mner
cable with a scoop and it separated. Since he was the "cable
man," M. Brewster held himresponsible for the cable separating
and when he inforned himthat he would be fired, he quit before
M. Brewster could fire him (Tr. 202A206).

Respondent' s Testi nony

David B. Jordan, testified that he was the President and
part - owner of the Raven Red Ash Coal Corporation and he confirned
that the mine was closed down in March of 1985. He stated that he
usual Iy goes underground in his mnes every 2 or 3 nonths. He
stated that he has personally never fired any of his enpl oyees
and that he has never directed anyone to fire any enpl oyee.

M. Jordan confirmed that he was at the mine in question on
August 24, 1984, delivering the payroll and he | earned at that
time that M. Sweeney had fired M. Kennedy and M. Collins for
"refusing to pull coal."” M. Jordan stated that MSHA | nspector
Ronal d Mat ney was at the mne on August 24, 1984, and that he
di scussed the matter with him M. Mitney had conducted an
i nspection that day and except for some |oose roof bolts on the
haul age road M. WNMatney assured himthat "everything | ooked fine"
under gr ound.

M. Jordan stated that no one had ever conplained to him
about unsafe working conditions underground. He confirnmed that he
has not paid any of the civil penalty assessnents reflected in
MSHA' s conputer print-out, exhibit CA9, because he could not
afford it. He also confirned that he was in the process of
working out a "settlenent” with the Departnent of Justice to pay
those penalties (Tr. 219A224, 226).

M. Jordan stated that the No. 1 Mne where the conpl ai nants
were enployed is mned out and that it closed in March, 1985. He
confirmed that he just opened a new m ne, and when asked about
the financial condition of his conmpany, he
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responded "I guess we're in no worse or no better shape than half
t he coal conpanies in Buchanan County" (Tr. 227). M. Jordan was
of the opinion that the conplainants quit their jobs, and he
alluded to a prior proposed settlement offer by MSHA to
conpensate one of the conplainants, and that if he agreed, the
case woul d be dropped. He stated that had he believed the
conpl ai nants were fired for working under unsafe conditions, he
woul d have not contested the conplaints (Tr. 229).

M. Jordan confirmed that since he was not underground from
day to day, he would not know how M. Sweeney operated his
section, and while he believed that it was possible that the
conpl ai nants were termnated for reasons which they have
testified to in this case, he would have no know edge of this one
way or the other (Tr. 231). He stated that he chose to believe
M. Sweeney, M. Brewster, and Inspector Matney (Tr. 231). He
di scl ai mred any know edge as to the conpl ainants' notives in
claimng that they were fired for refusing to work under
unsupported roof (Tr. 235).

M. devenger was recalled as the court's w tness, and he
stated that assum ng the two conpl ainant's were engaged in mning
an entire 40Afoot block of coal continuously while in their
scoops, they could be 4 to 6 feet past permanent roof supports.

If the entire coal block is mned without pulling out and bolting
after cutting 20 feet, a violation of the roof-control plan would
result because the plan stipulates that the nmaxi nrum depth of the
coal being mned should not exceed 20 feet without bolting. In
addition, the renote controls for the m ner may not advance
beyond per manent roof support (Tr. 251A252).

M. devenger stated that he has been in the mne severa
ti mes and has never received any conplaints with respect to the
m ni ng procedures (Tr. 253). In response to questions from
respondent's counsel, M. C evenger stated as follows (Tr.
254A255) :

Q Do you renenber before when | asked you when you're
pulling tinbers, if you pull one is it likely that they
have a roof fall the very next day and you said it's
quite possible that the could have a roof fall at

anyti me?
A. Yes, sir. | said that.
Q Well, doesn't that seem-doesn't it surprise you that

not only--that if you can go
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and m ne backwards and forwards in all these pillars for
ni ne days and never put the first bolt in and never have a
maj or roof fall? Isn't that pretty nmuch inpossible?

A 1t'd be according to the type of strata that you' ve
got .

Q Yeah, | know it would be, but if it's quite possible
that it would fall the next day--

A. | don't know that this has been done.
Q Well, I"'mjust asking you a hypot hetical question.
A. Right, you' re asking a theory.

Q Isn't it unusual, if as you say, that the roof could
fall the very next day, isn't it unusual that you would
mne all of these pillars right and left for two weeks
and never put the first bolt in and never have a roof
fall? Isn't that pretty incredible?

A If it's being done, yes.
Q kay.

A. There's no set time when a pillar fall would conme
because you have to put additional support, tinbers,
until you get enough weight to override these tinbers--

Q Right. | understand that.
A --it's pretty well hold itself.

M. d evenger explained the roof bolting pattern and
sequence for the mne, and he indicated that if no roof bolts
were installed in certain areas during the period from August 13
to 23, it was possible that Inspector Matney did not see the
areas because of the roof falls and he would not venture inby the
breaker posts (Tr. 257A259). In the event one cut of coal was
taken when M. Matney was in the mne, tenporary supports would
have been installed, but no bolting was required until that cut
was conpl eted and a second one begun. If M. Matney was there the
entire day, he woul d have
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been aware of what the m ning procedures were and what work was
bei ng done (Tr. 262).

MSHA | nspector Ronald C. Matney did not testify at the
Novenmber 13, 1985, hearing in this case. However, by agreenent of
the parties, his deposition was taken on Novenber 14, 1985, and
it has been filed and made a part of the record in this case.

M. Matney stated that he has been enpl oyed by MSHA as a
coal mne inspector since COctober 1, 1978. He testified as to his
background, training, and experience, and confirmed that he is
famliar with the respondent’'s mne. He stated that M. David
Jordan was the president and owner of the Raven Red Ash Coa
Conmpany, and that the mne at one tinme operated under the
corporate nane of VirginiaAWest Virginia Coal Corporation. He
confirmed that M. Jordan was the president and owner of both
corporations, and that during his inspections at the m ne when
they were under both corporate names he observed M. Jordan
there. He al so observed M. Bill Brewster and M. Hubert Sweeney
at the mne when it operated under the name of Virgini aAvest
Virginia Coal Corporation (Tr. 3A6).

M. Matney stated that he inspected the respondent’'s No. 1
Mne four tinmes a year, and that depending on the conditions of
the mne, the inspection takes from3 to 5 days to conplete. He
confirmed that he began an inspection of the mne on August 24,
1984, and that he was acconpanied by M. Brewster. M. Matney
stated that he arrived at the working face area of the mne at
approximately 9:20 a.m, and day shift personnel were at work.
Work had started approximately 2 hours earlier, and after
checking the face area he proceeded to the area where enpl oyees
were wor ki ng renmoving coal. He observed that a split or pillar
bl ock of coal approximately 20 feet had been renpved and the crew
had nmoved back to the next line of crosscuts to begin a new phase
of mining across the working faces. He confirmed that he issued a
violation on the cut of coal that had been taken because the
respondent was not conplying with its roof-control plan for
pillar extraction. The plan required that a 10Afoot bl ock of coa
be left on each side of the pillar split as a neans of roof
support, and he found that instead of |eaving a 10Afoot wi ng for
support, the wing of coal which was |left was between 4 and 8
feet. Under the circunstances, M. Matney issued a section 104(a)
"significant and substantial™ citation charging the respondent
with a violation of mandatory section 75.200, for failure to
conmply with the roof-control plan. M. Matney stated that the
respondent did not contest the citation (Tr. 7A12).
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M. Matney stated that during his inspection he | ooked at the
pillar areas which had been m ned on previous shifts and fromhis
position at the pillar breaker |ine he shined his Iight back into
the area in an attenpt to observe what had been done. He did not
venture beyond the pillar breaker |ine because of the "danger of
the conditions of the roof." However, from his vantage point at
the breaker line he could not see anythi ng because the roof had
col l apsed "up next to the breaker line," and he could not
det erm ne whether the previous shift had installed roof bolts in
the pillar splits. The coal had been m ned out and the "roof was
col | apsed solid" up to the breaker line (Tr. 13).

M. Matney stated that after conpleting his underground
i nspecti on on August 24, he returned to the surface at
approximately 12: 00 to 1: 00 p.m, in the conpany of M. Brewster
and they proceeded to the mne office. Wiile standing in the
of fice doorway, M. Collins and M. Kennedy cane by and M.
Mat ney asked them "how they were doing." M. Kennedy responded
"not so good," and when asked why by M. Matney, M. Kennedy
informed himthat M. Sweeney had fired themthe previous eveni ng
"for not hauling coal out from unsupported roof that was broke."
M. Matney stated that he comented to M. Brewster that he could
not fire anyone "for unsafe work practices," and that there was a
possibility that M. Kennedy and M. Collins could file
di scrimnation charges agai nst the respondent. M. Matney al so
stated that he informed M. Kennedy and M. Collins that he had
i nspected the faces and found "no violations that they had done"
(Tr. 14A15).

M. Matney stated that when he nentioned the fact that M.
Kennedy and M. Collins could file a discrimnation charge, M.
Brewster attenpted to contact M. Sweeney underground and stated
to M. Kennedy and M. Collins "if its like you say it is, you'll
get your jobs back." At that point in tine, M. Mitney left the
mne office to return to his own office, and he did not know
whet her M. Brewster contacted M. Sweeney. M. Kennedy and M.
Collins were still at the office when M. Matney left. M. Matney
stated that M. Jordan was not at the mine that day, and that at
no ti me has he had any conversations with M. Jordan about the
i ncident (Tr. 16).

On cross-exam nation, M. Mitney stated that there was no
doubt in his mnd that he did not speak with M. Jordan on August
24 while at the mne. He stated that according to the | egal
identity files maintained in his MSHA office, M. Jordan was the
president of both the Virgini aAWest Virginia Coal Conpany and the
Raven Red Ash Coal Conpany, and that when he
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filed his reports M. Jordan was listed as the corporate
presi dent of both conpanies (Tr. 16A18).

M. Matney stated that a renote controlled mner was used to
cut the pillar block of coal which he observed on August 24. One
cut of coal approximtely 20Afeet wi de by 20Afeet deep had been
taken out of the pillar and jacks had been set and a roof bolter
was present and was about to begin the roof bolting cycle. He
i ssued the citation because additional roof supports were
required to be installed due to the subnormal roof conditions
whi ch resulted fromnot |eaving enough coal for roof support. He
drew a di agram of the bl ock of coal being mned, and he expl ai ned
how the pillar was cut and split and bolted and tinbered
(deposition exhibit-A Tr. 22A26).

M. Matney stated that the respondent had no advance
know edge that he would inspect the m ne on August 24, and that
it is illegal for anyone to advise an operator of a schedul ed
i nspection. He stated that at the tine he observed the pillar
whi ch had been cut, no roof bolting had actually taken place, but
the safety jacks had been set and the roof bolting machine was in
pl ace ready to bolt the roof (Tr. 27).

M. Matney stated that the |ast previous inspection of the
m ne was probably conducted 2 nonths prior to August 24, but he
could not recall whether pillar work had been done at that tine.
Al t hough he issued a citation for dislodged roof bolts during his
August inspection, he could not recall issuing any citations
during his previous inspection (Tr. 29). The dislodged bolts in
guestion were in a crosscut hallway, and he explained that they
are usual ly di sl odged because the miner is too big for the | ow
coal being mined (Tr. 30).

M. Matney stated that he did not discuss the respondent’'s
pillar extraction procedures with M. Brewster, and he confirnmed
t hat because of the roof falls he could not determni ne whether
roof bolting had been done during prior shifts. He stated that
such falls are normal in pillar retrieval mning and that the
roof is supposed to fall (Tr. 32). M. Matney reiterated that he
heard M. Brewster state that if M. Sweeney fired M. Collins
and M. Kennedy because of their refusal to work under
unsupported roof, they would get their jobs back (Tr. 33).

M. Matney stated that a wing of coal could be mned in 25
m nutes, and that it would take approximately 2 to 3 hours to
mne a pillar. Two working shifts could probably extract five
pillars of coal. He explained that the roof is falling
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behi nd the areas where the coal has been extracted. Tinbers are a
means of tenporary support for the roof, and after the coal is
extracted roof bolts and tinbers will not support the weight of
the roof, and any resulting roof falls are "controlled falls"

(Tr. 37). He believed it was possible or probable to pull a
nunber of pillars over a period of time without installing roof
bolts, but he would not reconmend it (Tr. 38).

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons

In order to establish a prima facie case of discrimnation
under section 105(c) of the Mne Act, a conplaining nmner bears
t he burden of production and proof to establish (1) that he
engaged in protected activity and (2) that the adverse action
conpl ai ned of was notivated in any part by that activity.
Secretary on behalf of Pasula v. Consolidation Coal Conpany, 2
FMSHRC 2768, (1980), rev'd on other grounds sub. nom
Consol i dati on Coal Conpany v. Marshall, 663 F.2d 1211 (3d
Cir.1981); and Secretary on behalf of Robinette v. United Castle
Coal Conpany, 3 FMSHRC 803 (1981). Secretary on behal f of Jenkins
v. Hecl aADay M nes Corporation, 6 FMSHRC 1842 (1984). The
operator may rebut the prima facie case by showi ng either that no
protected activity occurred or that the adverse action was in no
way notivated by protected activity. If an operator cannot rebut
the prima facie case in this manner it may nevert hel ess
affirmatively defend by proving that (1) it was also notivated by
the mner's unprotected activities alone. The operator bears the
burden of proof with regard to the affirmative defense. Haro v.
Magma Copper Conpany, 4 FMBHRC 1935 (1982). The ultinmate burden
of persuasi on does not shift fromthe Conplai nant. Robinette,
supra. See al so Boich v. FMBHRC, 719 F.2d 194 (6th Cr.1983); and
Donovan v. Stafford Construction Conpany, No. 83A1566, D.C.Gir.
(April 20, 1984) (specifically-approving the Comm ssion's
Pasul aARobi nette test). See also NLRB v. Transportation
Managenent Corporation, AAA U S. AAAA, 76 L.Ed.2d 667 (1983).

The issue in this case is whether or not the conplainants
wer e di scharged by the respondent because of their reluctance or
refusal to performwork as scoop operators under unsupported
roof. MSHA's position is that the conplainants were fired for
refusing to work under unsafe roof conditions (Tr. 248 and
posthearing brief). A though the respondent did not file any
post hearing argunments, | assume fromthe argunments nmade by
counsel on the record during the course of the hearing in this
case that its position is that the conplainants either quit their
jobs voluntarily or they were discharged by second shift foreman
Hubert Sweeney because of their "goofing off" on the job or
refusing "to pull coal."
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The respondent produced no m ne records docunenting the
separation of the two conplainants. M. Jordan testified that M.
Brewster told himthat the two had quit, and that |nspector
Matney told himthat they were fired by M. Sweeney "for refusing
to pull coal" (Tr. 220A221). M. Jordan was al so of the opinion
that the two men quit (Tr. 229).

During his direct testinony, M. Brewster testified that M.
Sweeney told himthat he fired M. Kennedy because "he did not
want to pull coal,” and that M. Collins sinply quit. On
cross-exam nation, M. Brewster stated that M. Sweeney told him
that he told M. Collins and M. Kennedy to "go on to the house,"
and that he (Brewster) was led to believe that M. Kennedy and
M. Collins did not want to pull coal and that M. Sweeney told
themto go home because they were "goofing off."

M. Sweeney's testinony as to whether he fired M. Collins
and M. Kennedy, or whether they quit is inconsistent. M.
Sweeney first testified that he fired the two for "goofing off"
after he observed themsitting in their equi pment tal king. He
then testified that he told at | east one other man on the shift
that the two had quit and that he told M. Brewster that they had
quit and that he had fired them Wen specifically asked whet her
he had fired them or whether they quit, M. Sweeney responded
"Well, | guess you'd call it firing them They just took off
going on outside. | guess you'd call it firing them (Tr. 168).

M. Sweeney admitted that when he was interviewed by an MSHA
i nspector on Septenber 20, 1984, during the investigation of the
di scrimnation conplaints, he told the inspector that M. Collins
and M. Kennedy quit their jobs, and that he (Sweeney) had no
know edge as to why they quit. M. Sweeney's prior denials of any
know edge as to why the two conplainants left their jobs raises a
question in ny mnd as to his credibility. If M. Sweeney had
just cause to discharge the conplainants, it seens to ne that he
woul d have told the investigating inspector his side of the story
as to why the two men left their jobs rather than denying any
know edge of the incident.

Both M. Kennedy and M. Collins were consistent in their
assertions that they had been fired by M. Sweeney. The
statenments to this effect, nade to Inspector Matney and M.
Brewster the day following their term nation, are consistent, and
both M. Brewster and M. Matney confirned that M. Kennedy and
M. Collins told themthat M. Sweeney fired them Further,
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their testinony during the hearing that they had been fired by
M. Sweeney is |ikew se consistent.

After careful consideration of all of the testinony in this
case, | conclude and find that on August 23, 1984, M. Collins
and M. Kennedy were fired fromtheir jobs as scoop operators by
M. Hubert Sweeney, respondent's second shift foreman, and that
their term nation was not the result of voluntary quits on their
part.

M. Brewster confirmed that he had never received any
conpl ai nts about the conpl ai nants' work perfornmance. He confirned
that he initially hired M. Kennedy because of his reputation as
a good scoop man, and that M. Collins was hired because he had
worked at the mine in a previous occasion and M. Brewster
bel i eved that he could operate a scoop (Tr. 156). M. Sweeney
testified that the conplainants had only worked for himfor 2 or
3 days before they were term nated, and he was under the
i npression that they did not want to work (Tr. 169). Oher than
this opinion by M. Sweeney, there is no evidence that the
conpl ai nants were ot her than good enpl oyees, nor is there any
evi dence that they had ever conplained to mne nmanagenent or to
any MSHA i nspectors about any hazardous job conditions or safety
i nfractions.

During the course of the hearing, mne operator Jordan
suggested that since Inspector Matney had just been under ground
and assured himthat "everything | ooked fine," the assertions by
t he conpl ai nants that they were asked or required to work under
unsupported roof is incorrect. However, | take note of the fact
that M. Sweeney did not advi se nanagenent that he term nated the
conpl ainants until the next day. Significantly, after M. Jordan
and M. Brewster were nade aware of the term nations, and after
I nspect or Matney advised M. Brewster of the possible
ram fications of the term nations, including a possible
di scrimnation conplaint by the conplainants, M. Jordan and M.
Brewster did not go underground to ascertain the facts or to
determ ne or attenpt to determ ne whether the area where the two
i ndi vi dual s were working was in fact roof bolted. M. Brewster
and M. Jordan apparently opted to believe M. Sweeney's
expl anation that he fired the conpl ai nants because they did not
want to work. | find it rather strange that m ne nmanagenent, once
alerted by a Federal inspector on the scene of the possible
ram fications of the discharge, would not i mediately ascertain
all of the facts so as to protect itself from any possible
di scrimnation clains.
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M. Brewster worked the day shift and he would not be in a
position to observe the working conditions during the evening
shift which was supervised by M. Sweeney (Tr. 149A150). M.
Brewster conceded that it was possible that the night shift could
have been mining and splitting pillars w thout roof bolting (Tr.
150). However, since he was not underground during the night
shift, he would have no way of personally knowi ng that this was
the case, and he stated that no one on the night shift, including
M. Collins or M. Kennedy, ever conplained to hi mabout the |ack
of roof bolting or hazardous conditions (Tr. 154A155).

M. Jordan testified that he may have been underground once
every 3 or 4 nmonths in response to calls fromthe superintendent
concerni ng adverse mning conditions (Tr. 219). He confirmed that
due to his absence fromthe underground mne on a day-to-day
basi s, he would have no way of knowi ng how M. Sweeney oper at ed
the section. While it was possible that M. Collins and M.
Kennedy are correct in their assertions that pillars were pulled
wi t hout roof support, M. Jordan stated that he had no persona
know edge that this was the case (Tr. 230A231).

M. Brewster asserted that during the period from August 14
to 23, 1984, the roof bolter was used on the first day shift. He
al so asserted that his two sons worked on that shift as a scoop
operator and mechanic's hel per, and that he woul d not jeopardize
their safety by requiring themto work under unsupported roof.
VWil e these assertions may be true, the fact is that M. Collins
and M. Kennedy worked the evening shift under M. Sweeney's
supervision, and M. Brewster had no know edge as to how M.
Sweeney worked his shift. Under the circunstances, | find M.
Brewster's assertions as to what nmay have transpired during his
day shift to be irrelevant to the question concerni ng what M.
Sweeney expected his shift to do, or whether or not the clains by
M. Collins or M. Kennedy that they were expected to work under
unsupported roof are supportable by credi bl e evidence.

M. Jordan cl ained that he spoke with M. Matney after
di scussing the matter with M. Brewster, and that M. Brewster
informed himthat the two nen were going to file a conmplaint. M.
Jordan al so stated that M. Brewster advised himthat M. Sweeney
had fired M. Collins and M. Kennedy for "refusing to pul
coal ." Gven these circunstances, | find it rather peculiar that
M. Jordan did not go underground to ascertain precisely what had
happened. If all of the principals were readily avail able a day
after the discharge, it occurs to ne that the natural thing for
M. Jordan to have
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done was to go underground with the inspector while the events
were fresh in everyone's mind in order to view the areas which
had been mined on the second shift the day before in order to
ascertain all of the facts. Further, since M. Collins and M.
Kennedy were readily available at the mne on August 24, | also
find it rather peculiar that M. Jordan did not speak with them
to ascertain their side of the events leading to their
termnation. | also find it rather strange that neither M.
Jordan or M. Brewster spoke with any ot her nenbers of M.
Sweeney's shift to ascertain all of the facts. None of these

i ndividuals were called to testify on behalf of the respondent.

M. Jordan expl ained that he made no further inquiry because
he assuned that Inspector Matney's comrents that his inspection
on August 24 detected nothing wong with the conditions
underground led himto believe that everything "had to be right"
(Tr. 263). M. Mtney deni ed speaking to M. Jordan when he
encountered M. Collins and M. Kennedy at the mine office the
day followi ng the discharge. During their testinony, M.

Brewster, M. Collins, and M. Kennedy did not nention that M.
Jordan was present at the mine office on August 14, when

I nspect or Matney encountered the two nen, and M. Brewster stated
that he spoke with M. Sweeney after M. Collins and M. Kennedy
left (Tr. 153). M. Mtney testified that there was no doubt in
his mind that he did not speak to M. Jordan on August 24, 1984.

M. Jordan stated that he could ascertain fromthe mne map
and work shift records the mne areas which had been mned during
the period August 3 to 24, 1984. | assune that those records
woul d reflect the mne conditions in those areas, and that they
woul d al so possibly reflect whether or not certain areas had been
bolted as the mning sequence took place. However, the respondent
produced no records in this regard, nor did it call any wtnesses
for testinony in this case. Al of the witnesses were either
subpoenaed or called by MSHA, and M. Jordan, who was present at
the hearing, was called as the court's w tness. Al though M.
Sweeney nentioned that two other miners were present on the shift
when he fired M. Collins and M. Kennedy, they were not called
as witnesses, and the respondent produced no testinony or
evi dence fromany other mners who nay have al so worked on the
evening shift when M. Collins and M. Kennedy were fired.

In view of the foregoing, | have given little consideration
to M. Jordan's defense that Inspector Matney assured hi mthat
everything was in order underground on the norning after the
termnations. Wile it is true that M. Matney was
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underground on the norning after the termnations of M. Collins
and M. Kennedy, he testified that he could not tell whether any
roof bolting had been done because pillar work had begun in a new
area and he could not safely observe what had been done on prior
shifts because the roof had fallen in up to the pillar break
line.

I have also given little weight to the testinmony by M.
Jordan and M. Brewster with regard to the roof bolting practices
or other conditions which may have existed on the second shift
during the periods when the conpl ai nants were working on that
shift. For the reasons stated earlier, | conclude and find that
M. Brewster and M. Jordan had little or no presence underground
during the second working shift and were in no position to
personal |y observe any of the prevailing working or nine
conditions during that shift.

Conpl ai nant Larry Collins testified that during his
enpl oyment on the second shift, entire coal pillars were m ned
wi t hout any roof bolts ever being installed, and that this was a
common practice. Conplainant Earl Kennedy testified that during
hi s enpl oynent on the second shift a roof bolter was present on
the section but it was backed up out of the way and he never
observed it being used to install roof bolts while the pillar
splits were being m ned.

Terry Kennedy, Earl's brother, testified that for the 2 days
he worked on the second shift on August 13 and 14, 1984, no roof
bolts were ever installed and the roof bolting mahi ne was never
used. Terry Kennedy testified further that while no one ever
directed himto work under unsupported roof, he did so anyway "to
keep his job." He also asserted that he told M. Sweeney that the
safety of the miners was being jeopardi zed by not roof bolting,
and that M. Sweeney replied that since the mne was a snal
operation they "could get by with just about anything."

Jerry Kennedy, who is unrelated to the conpl ai nant,
testified that during his enploynent on the second shift from
August 13 to 23, 1984, he never observed the roof bolter in use
or the roof being bolted. He testified that the pillars would be
m ned through to the end without any pillar roof bolting taking
pl ace, and that he observed scoop operators go under unsupported
roof, and that this was a "common occurrence.”

Bobby Mullins, who work the day shift as a pinner hel per
testified that during his enpl oynent underground for 3 weeks
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i n August, 1984, he never observed the roof bolter in use
installing roof bolts on the pillars.

The only testinony which directly contradicts the testinony
of the conplainants and the two corroborating wi tnesses who
wor ked the sane shift as the conplainants with respect to whether
or not roof bolting was ever done during the retreat pillar
extraction process on the second shift is that of second shift
foreman Hubert Sweeney. M. Sweeney testified that the roof was
al ways bolted in accordance with the roof plan

M. Sweeney confirnmed that during MSHA s investigation of
t he conpl ai nants, he told MSHA special investigator Dewey Rife
that M. Collins and M. Kennedy quit their jobs and that he
(Sweeney) did not know why they had quit. At the hearing, M.
Sweeney testified that he did not know why the conpl ai nants had
quit and later admtted that he fired themfor "goofing off" or
not wanting to work. I find M. Sweeney's testinony to be
i nconsistent, and his failure to fully disclose to the special
i nvestigator all of the relevant facts concerning the
term nations |leads ne to conclude that his testinony in this case
is less than credible. Further, M. Sweeney was the second shift
foreman and the safety of his crew was his responsibility. In
these circunstances, | believe it is reasonable to conclude that
any testinony by M. Sweeney nust be viewed in light of a natura
interest on his part not to put hinmself in a position of being
hel d personal ly accountable for any adverse results which may
flow from exposing mners to hazardous mning conditions or
practices, or fromany clainms of discrimnatory discharges.

After careful consideration of all of the testinony
regardi ng the asserted absence of any roof bolting on the second
shift during the conplai nants enpl oynent with the respondent, |
find the testinony of the conplainants and the corroborating
wi tnesses to be credible and it supports a conclusion that roof
bolti ng was not being acconpli shed on the second shift during al
times relevant to the conplaint.

During their enploynment at the mine on the second shift the
conpl ai nants were working in | ow coal and were engaged in retreat
coal pillar extraction. Such pillar extraction is in itself
potentially nore hazardous than normal mning because it includes
sel f-induced roof falls behind the areas from which the coal has
been renoved, and the full natural roof support of the coa
pillar which at one time served to support the roof has been
renoved or | essened because of the renoval of the coal
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M. Kennedy testified that while operating his scoop he would be
lying on his back, and M. Sweeney stated that after speaking
with M. Collins and M. Kennedy underground about their
"chit-chatting,"” he had to "crawl " out of the area on his hands
and knees. M. Brewster testified that because of the |ow coal it
was not unusual for roof bolts to becone dislodged. Under all of
these circunstances, | believe it is reasonable to conclude that
the | ow coal heights posed an additional potential hazard to the
conpl ai nants who were expected to work in these areas. Coupled
with ny finding that roof bolting was not being done during the
pillar extraction process on the second shift, | conclude that
during their enployment on the second shift, the conplainants
were exposed to a serious hazard of a potential unplanned roof
fall with resulting serious injuries.

Since | have concluded that the pillar splits were not roof
bolted on the second shift during the conpl ainants' enploynment on
that shift, | also conclude and find that as scoop operators, M.
Kennedy and M. Collins were necessarily required to work under
unsupported roof and that section foreman Sweeney expected them
to. In addition to the testinmony of M. Collins and M. Kennedy
that they were under unsupported roof when they operated their
scoops, M. Brewster confirned that assum ng the pillars were not
bol ted, the scoop operators woul d be operating under unsupported
roof. During his explanation of the respondent's roof-control
pl an and the procedures for pillar extraction, |nspector
Cl evenger stated that the cutting of a pillar for a distance of
20 feet without pulling out and bolting would violate the
respondent's roof-control plan, and if the scoop operators worked
the entire 40Afoot pillar continuously with no bolting taking
pl ace, they would be 4 to 6 feet past pernmanent roof supports.
Scoop operator Jerry Kennedy (not related to Earl), testified
that it was a common occurrence for scoop operators to work under
unsupported roof on the second shift.

It is well settled that the refusal by a miner to perform
work is protected under section 105(c)(1) of the Act if it
results froma good faith belief that the work invol ves safety
hazards, and if the belief is a reasonable one. Secretary of
Labor/ Pasul a v. Consolidation Coal Company, 2 FMSHRC 2786, 2 BNA
MSHC 1001 (1980), rev'd on other grounds, sub nom Consolidation
Coal Conpany v. Marshall, 663 F.2d 1211 (3rd GCir.1981); Secretary
of Labor/Robinette v. United Castle Coal Conpany, 3 FMSHRC 803, 2
BNA MSHC 1213 (1981); Bradley v. Belva Coal Conpany, 4 FMSHRC 982
(1982). Secretary of Labor v. Metric Constructors, Inc., 6 FMSHRC
226 (Feb. 1984), aff'd sub



~560

nom, Brock v. Metric Constructors, Inc., 3 MSHC 1865 (11lth
Cir.1985). Further, the reason for the refusal to work nust be
conmuni cated to the mine operator. Secretary of Labor/Dunmre and
Estle v. Northern Coal Conpany, 4 FMBHRC 126 (1982).

I find the testinony of the conplainants that they infornmed
shift foreman Sweeney on August 23, 1984, that they woul d not
continue to work under unsupported roof to be credible. M.
Collins testified that at the time of the refusal, the roof was
cracki ng and popping. M. Kennedy stated that prior to his work
refusal, he observed a dislodged roof bolt and a | arge rock
approxi mately 30 feet |ong which had slipped dowmn with the bolt.
After M. Sweeney "shimed out the roof bolt," he instructed M.
Kennedy to continue working his scoop beyond the slipped rock and
up to the mner, but M. Kennedy refused. M. Collins testified
that after discussing the situation further, he inforned M.
Kennedy that he would no | onger work under unsupported roof, and
that he and M. Kennedy so inforned M. Sweeney.

M. Sweeney confirned that he observed M. Kennedy and M.
Collins sitting in their scoops at the pillar break carrying on a
di scussion. He then confronted them and after sone di scussion
the two nmen left the mne. M. Sweeney subsequently first
testified that he informed M. Brewster that the two had quit for
no reason. He then testified that he informed M. Brewster that
he had fired themfor "goofing off." M. Brewster's subsequent
offers to M. Kennedy and M. Collins to cone back to work raises
a strong inference in ny mnd that M. Brewster had sone doubts
about their term nation, and that their contention that they were
fired for refusing to work under unsupported roof has a ring of
truth about it.

As discussed earlier, at the tine of the discharges, the
conditions which existed while the conplainants were engaged in
pillar extraction work presented a serious hazard of a potential
unpl anned roof fall. Further, M. Collins testified that he
previously experienced rock falling on his scoop, that he was
required to operate the scoop with mal functioning |Iights, and
that the roof was cracking and popping. M. Kennedy testified
that a large rock had slipped out of the roof at the point where
the roof had been bolted at the pillar break, and Terry Kennedy
testified that he had previously informed M. Sweeney that the
| ack of roof bolting on the pillars was jeopardizing the safety
of the mners. Gven all of these circunstances, |
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conclude and find that the conplainants refusal to continue to
wor k under unsupported roof on August 23, 1984, was justified.
further conclude and find that the conplainants had a good faith,
reasonabl e belief that continuing to work inby permanent roof
support was hazardous.

The record in this case establishes that the conpl ai nants
were satisfactory enpl oyees and had never been disciplined about
their work. As a matter of fact M. Brewster confirnmed that he
hired them because of their reputati on as good scoop operators.
Further, there is no evidence that the conplainants ever filed
any safety conmplaints with MSHA or with m ne managenent, or that
t hey were considered troubl emakers or malingerers.

The testinony and statenments of M. Sweeney and M. Brewster
concerning the term nation of the conplainants is inconsistent,
and | have given it little weight. As indicated earlier, M.
Sweeney's testinony that the two nmen quit, and his later
statement that he fired them casts doubts as to his credibility.
Li kewi se, M. Brewster's prior statenents to the MSHA
i nvestigator, and his testinony at the hearing, indicates an
i nconsi stency as to his understandi ng of whether the conplai nants
were fired for cause or voluntarily quit their jobs. Contrasted
with this testinmony, is the consistent statenents of the
conpl ai nants, both during the hearing, and in their prior
contacts with the MSHA investigator, |Inspector Matney, and nine
managenent, that they were fired by M. Sweeney because they
refused to work under unsupported roof.

I conclude and find that the preponderance of the evidence
and testinony adduced in this proceedi ng establishes that M.
Kennedy and M. Collins were fired by shift foreman Sweeney
because of their refusal to continue to work as scoop operators
under unsupported roof. | further conclude and find that the work
refusal by the two conpl ai nants was protected activity under the
Act, and that their discharge by the respondent for this reason
constitutes a violation of section 105(c)(1) of the Act.

The Relief Due the Conplainants

M. Kennedy testified that after his discharge by the
respondent on August 23, 1984, he was unenpl oyed for
approximately a nmonth and a half. He then found a job with the
Cunber| and Coal Conpany earning $80 a shift, and worked there for
5 weeks. He then went to work for the Tripple G Coal Conpany
earning $70 to $110, but was subsequently laid off
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and has been unenpl oyed since Septenber 1, 1985 (Tr. 81A94). He
wor ked continuously for Cunberland and Tripple G until his |ay
off fromthe latter conpany, and then worked for approxinmately a
month and a half at the Rookie Coal Conpany until his lay-off on
Septenber 1, 1985 (Tr. 94).

M. Collins testified that after his discharge by the
respondent on August 23, 1984, he attenpted to find other
enpl oyment but could not find a job until April, 1985. He
confirmed that he received no unenpl oynent benefits because he
had used up all of his eligibility for such benefits. He stated
that he found a job in April, 1985, with the Coon Branch
Construction Conpany where he is presently enployed earni ng $80
per shift. Prior to this current enploynent, he worked for 2
weeks with the Bartlett Tree Trinmm ng Conpany earning $4 an hour
but was laid off (Tr. 68A69).

The respondent opted not to file any posthearing argunents
or to otherwise file any argunments mtigating its liability in
t hese proceedings. In its posthearing brief, MSHA asserts that
t he renedial goal of section 105(c) is "to restore the [victim of
illegal discrimnation] to the situation he would have occupi ed
but for the discrimnation." Bailey v. ArkansasACarbon Co. &
Wl ker, 3 MBHC 1145, 1150 (1983); Secretary on behalf of Dunmire
and Estle v. Northern Coal Co., 2 MSHC 1585, 1595 (1982). MNMSHA
states that unless conpelling reasons point to the contrary, the
full measure of relief should be granted to an inproperly
di scharged enpl oyee, including back pay with interest. Bailey v.
ArkansasACar bona Co. & Wal ker, at 1150A1151. Since in this case
the conpl ainants were fired for engaging in protected activity,
MSHA asserts that they nust be nade whole for any |oss they
suffered as a result of the discrimnation, including full back
pay. MSHA points out that the respondent bears the burden of
proof with regard to any allegation of willful |oss of pay.
Secretary v. Metric Constructors, Inc., 3 MSHC 1259, 1265 (1984),
aff'd sub nom Brock on behalf of Parker v. Metric Constructors,
Inc., 3 MBHC 1865 (11th G r.1985).

MSHA points out that at the time M. Brewster offered the
conpl ai nants their jobs back, they rejected the offer because
they believed M. Sweeney would again require themto work under
unsupported roof. M. Collins testified that when M. Brewster
offered to take them back, he stated "We'l|l forget this ever
happened."” Wien M. Collins questioned whether they would again
be required to work under unsupported roof,
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M. Brewster responded "that's the way we do it" (Tr. 57), and
when M. Collins asked for another work assignment, M. Brewster
refused.

M. Kennedy testified that he and M. Collins advised M.
Brewster that they would take their jobs back as |ong as they
were not required to work under unsupported roof. He stated that
M. Brewster replied "that's the way we al ways work," and that if
they did not return to work they did not have a "leg to stand on"
(Tr. 91).

| take note of the fact that at the time M. Brewster made
the offer to the conplainants to return to work, he did so in the
presence of an MSHA i nspector and after an inquiry by the
i nspector as to whether the conplainants had in fact been fired
for refusing to work under unsupported roof. M. Brewster
testified that when he nmade the offer, the conplainants refused
and comented that the conpany would find anot her excuse to fire
them M. Brewster also testified that when he nmade the offer, it
was contingent on his speaking with M. Sweeney to ascertai n why
he had fired the conpl ainants. He subsequently was told by M.
Sweeney that the conplainants were fired for "goofing off," and
he obvi ously believed M. Sweeney's version of the incident.

In view of the foregoing, | agree with MSHA' s argunents that
the reluctance of the conplainants to accept M. Brewster's
condi tional offer to return to work, in the circunstances then
presented, did not constitute a willful loss of pay on their
part. | also agree with MSHA that the respondent has not
established a willful loss or pay which would entitle it to
mtigate its liability or obligation to make the conpl ai nants
whol e.

M ne operator Jordan testified that the No. 1 Mne was
conpl etely mined out and closed in March, 1985 (Tr. 227A228). He
confirmed that his conpany reopened a new mne on Cctober 15,
1985, but he was not aware that any enpl oyees who worked at the
old No. 1 Mne are now enpl oyed at his new operation (Tr. 237).
The hiring of new enployees is left to the m ne superintendent
Leel and Hess, and he identified the mne foremen as Ji m Cook and
Cerald Hess (Tr. 237).

M. Sweeney testified that he is unenpl oyed, and that he
left his enploynent with the respondent on March 15, 1985 (Tr.
161). M. Brewster testified that he is currently enployed by the
Vesta M ning Conpany, and that he left the respondent’'s enpl oy
during the |l ast week of March, 1985, because the No. 1 Mne "was
mning out" (Tr. 110A112).
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The back pay provisions of section 105(c), like the correspondi ng
provisions of Title VIl of the Civil R ghts Act, appear to be
nodel ed on section 10(c) of the National Labor Rel ations Act, 29
U S.C 0160(c). Cf. A bemarle Paper Co. v. Mody, 422 U S. 405,
419 (1985). Questions arising under it should therefore be
resol ved by reference to NLRB precedent. Id. The general rule is
that back pay is the difference between what the enpl oyee woul d
have earned but for the wongful discharge and his actual interim
earnings. OCAWvVv. NLRB, 547 F.2d 598 (D.C.Cir.1976). In practice,
this means gross pay mnus net interimearning equals the award.
Respondent, of course, is responsible for conplying with
applicable state and Federal |aws on withholding. Cf. Soci al
Security Board v. N erotko, 327 U S. 358 (1946).

MSHA asserts that since the respondent did not present any
evi dence that the conpl ai nants woul d have been di scharged pri or
to the closing of the mine for non-discrimnatory reasons, it has
not met its burden of proof, and that back pay should be awarded
to the conplainants at the rate of $70 per day for the period
from August 23, 1984 until the March 31, 1985. Taking into
account the testinony of M. Collins and M. Kennedy wi th respect
to their periods or unenpl oyment and enpl oynent subsequent to
their discharge, MSHA states that M. Kennedy is entitled to
back- pay conpensation in the amount of $2,170, with interest,
whi ch includes pay for Friday, August 24, 1984, and $350 per week
for the next 6 weeks. Wth regard to the conpensation for M.
Collins, MBHA states that he is entitled to back-pay in the
amount of $10,600, with interest, which includes pay for Friday,
August 24, 1984, and $350 per week for the next 31 weeks with a
deduction of $320 for his earnings with the tree trinmng
conpany. MSHA states that interest for both conpl ai nants shoul d
be determ ned in accordance with the Conm ssion approved formnul a
set out in Secretary, ex rel Bailey v. ArkansasACarbona Co. &

Wal ker, 3 MBHC 1145 (1983); 5 FMSHRC 2042, 2050.

ORDER

The respondent 1S ORDERED to pay to the conpl ai nant Earl
Kennedy the sum of $2,170, |ess any anmounts normally w thheld
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pursuant to state and Federal law, with interest to the net
back-pay award at a rate of 9 percent until it is paid.(FOOINOTE 1)

The respondent 1S ORDERED to pay to the conplai nant Larry
Collins the sum of $10,600, |ess any anounts nornally withheld
pursuant to state and Federal law, with interest to the net
back-pay award at a rate of 9 percent until it is paid.(FOOINOTE 1)

Payment is to be made to both conplainants within thirty
(30) days of the date of this decision and order

Cvil Penalty Assessnent

On the basis of nmy prior findings and conclusions, the
respondent' s di scharge of the conplainants was in violation of
section 105(c)(1), and a civil penalty assessnent nay be |evied
agai nst the respondent for the violations.

MSHA argues that the violation was very serious, and it
requests a civil penalty assessnent in the range of $1,000 to
$1,200. | agree that the violations were serious. The
respondent' s di scharge of the conplainants for refusing to work
under unsupported roof constitutes a negligent disregard for
their safety, and the respondent has advanced no argunents in
mtigation of the violations.

The record reflects that the respondent is a small nine
operator, and the No. 1 Mne is now cl osed. However, m ne
operator Jordan is still in business and operates other m nes.
The respondent has not established that the payment of a civil
penalty in the amounts suggested by MSHA will adversely affect
its ability to continue in business, and | conclude that it wll
not .
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MSHA has submitted exhibits CA9 and CA10, two conputer print-outs
listing the assessed violation history for the Raven Red Ash Coa
Corporation No. 1 Mne for the period August 23, 1982, to August
22, 1984 (CA9), and the violations history for all nines
controlled by M. David Jordan for the period August 23, 1982, to
August 22, 1984, (CA10). Exhibit CA9 reflects 42 section 104(a)
citations and one section 104(a)A107(a) order for which the
respondent was assessed $3, 130, and has paid nothing. Exhibit
CA10 reflects 157 section 104(a) citations and three orders for
whi ch the respondent was assessed $7,069, and has paid $1, 255.

During the course of the hearing, the respondent objected to
any consideration of violations issued prior to August 1984, on
the ground that the m ne was owned by a different corporation
the Virginia and West Virginia Coal Corporation, and that M.
Jordan was not the owner of that conpany. MSHA submtted
information to the contrary by letter and encl osures of January
9, 1986, and the respondent filed nothing in response to that
i nformation and has not rebutted MSHA's assertion that M. Jordan
was the owner and controller of both corporations. In an order
i ssued by ne on February 13, 1986, the respondent's objections
were overruled, and | concluded that the conpliance history of
the Raven Red Ash Coal Corporation, as well as the prior
corporate entity for the No. 1 Mne, both of which were owned and
operated by M. Jordan, are relevant to any civil penalty
assessnment levied in this proceeding. My interlocutory ruling in
this regard is herein REAFFI RVMED. The respondent has had anple
opportunity to challenge the accuracy of the information
contained in the conputer print-outs, but it has not done so.

| take note of the fact that while the respondent has been
assessed civil penalties for its prior infractions of the
mandat ory safety standards promul gated by MSHA under the Act in
Part 75, Title 30, Code of Federal Regulations, it has made few
paynments. According to the conmputer codes reflected on the
print-outs, nost of the assessnments have been the subject of MSHA
demand letters for paynent, and many have ended up as default
judgnments filed in the United States district court. Although M.
Jordan is still in business and operating other nmnes, he has
apparently failed to neet his obligations in paying civil
penalties, and | have considered this in the civil penalty
assessed for the violation in question. | have al so consi dered
the fact that the respondent has not previously been the subject
of discrimnation conplaints or violations of section 105(c) (1)
of the Act.
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In view of the foregoing, and after consideration of the civil
penalty criteria found in section 110(i) of the Act, | concl ude
and find that a civil penalty assessnment of $1,000 is reasonable
and appropriate for the violations which are the subject of these
pr oceedi ngs.

CORDER

The respondent 1S ORDERED to pay a civil penalty in the
amount of $1,000 for the violations in question, and paynent is
to be nade to MSBHA within thirty (30) days of the date of this
deci si on and order.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Admi ni strative Law Judge

FOOTNOTE START HERE

1 This is the current adjusted prine rate used by the

I nternal Revenue Service for underpaynents and overpaynents of
tax. Rev. Ruling 79A366. The NLRB al so uses this figure to
conpute interest on back pay awards. Florida Steel Corp., 231
N.L.R B. No. 117, 1977A78 CCH NLRB Para. 18,484; North Canbria
Fuel Co., Inc., v. NL.RB., 645 F.2d 177 (3rd G r.1981);
Secretary ex rel Bailey v. Arkansas Carbona Coal & Walker, 5
FMSHRC 2042, 2050 (Dec. 1983).



